

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Progress in Cardiovascular Diseases





Precise Therapy for Thoracic Aortic Aneurysm in Marfan Syndrome: A Puzzle Nearing Its Solution $\stackrel{\bigstar}{}$



Erica Rurali ^{a,*}, Gianluca Lorenzo Perrucci ^a, Chiara Assunta Pilato ^{a,b}, Alessandro Pini ^c, Raffaella Gaetano ^d, Patrizia Nigro ^{a,1}, Giulio Pompilio ^{a,b,e,1}

^a Unit of Vascular Biology and Regenerative Medicine, Centro Cardiologico Monzino IRCCS, Milano, Italy

^b Dipartimento di Scienze Cliniche e di Comunità, Università degli Studi di Milano, Milano, Italy

^c Rare Disease Center, Marfan Clinic, Cardiology department, ASST-FBF-Sacco, Milano, Italy

^d Istituto di Biomedicina ed Immunologia Molecolare "Alberto Monroy", CNR, Palermo, Italy

^e Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Centro Cardiologico Monzino IRCCS, Milano, Italy

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Marfan syndrome TAA FBN1 Pharmacogenetics iPSC

ABSTRACT

Marfan Syndrome (MFS) is a rare connective tissue disorder, resulting from mutations in the fibrillin-1 gene, characterized by pathologic phenotypes in multiple organs, the most detrimental of which affects the thoracic aorta. Indeed, thoracic aortic aneurysms (TAA), leading to acute dissection and rupture, are today the major cause of morbidity and mortality in adult MFS patients. Therefore, there is a compelling need for novel therapeutic strategies to delay TAA progression and counteract aortic dissection occurrence. Unfortunately, the wide phenotypic variability of MFS patients, together with the lack of a complete genotype-phenotype correlation, have represented until now a barrier hampering the conduction of translational studies aimed to predict disease prognosis and drug discovery. In this review, we will illustrate available therapeutic strategies to improve the health of MFS patients. Starting from gold standard surgical overtures and the description of the main pharmacological approaches, we will comprehensively review the state-of-the-art of *in vivo* MFS models and discuss recent clinical pharmacogenetic results. Finally, we will focus on induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSC) as a technology that, if integrated with preclinical research and pharmacogenetics, could contribute in determining the best therapeutic approach for each MFS patient on the base of individual differences. Finally, we will suggest the integration of preclinical studies, pharmacogenetics and iPSC technology as the most likely strategy to help solve the composite puzzle of precise medicine in this condition.

© 2018 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

Background	329
MFS Genetic Background	329
Current Therapeutic Strategies	330
Surgical Approaches.	330
Life Style and Pharmacological Approaches 3	330
Novel Therapeutic Perspectives	331
Mouse Models	331
Pharmacogenetics	331
Patient-Specific Cell Models	332

Abbreviations and Acronyms: ACEi, angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors; ARBs, angiotensin II receptor type 1 blockers; βBs, beta blockers; BP, blood pressure; CCB, calcium channel blockers; CV, cardiovascular; CVD, cardiovascular disease; DN, dominant negative; ECM, extracellular matrix; ESC, embryonic stem cells; FBN1, fibrillin 1; HI, haploinsufficient; iPSC, induced pluripotent stem cell; MFS, Marfan Syndrome; MMPs, matrix metalloproteinases; NC, neural crest; PEARS, personalized external aortic root support; SMC, smooth muscle cells; TAA, thoracic aortic aneurysm; TGF-β, transforming growth factor β; TRR, total root replacement; VSRR, valve-sparing root replacement.

☆ Statement of Conflict of Interest: see page 333.

E-mail address: erica.rurali@ccfm.it (E. Rurali).

¹ These authors contributed equally to this work.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcad.2018.07.020

0033-0620/© 2018 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

^{*} Address reprint requests to: Erica Rurali, PhD, via Carlo Parea 4, Milan 20138, Italy.

Conclusions	333
Acknowledgements	333
Statement of Conflict of Interest.	333
References	333

Background

Marfan Syndrome (MFS) is a rare autosomal Mendelian disease (http://www.omim.org/; OMIM#154700), with a reported prevalence from 4 to 20/100000 individuals, depending on diagnostic criteria and ethnicity.^{1, 2} This monogenic connective tissue disorder, caused by a mutation in the gene encoding for fibrillin-1 (*FBN1*), segregates as a dominant trait in families. Notably, 20–25% of cases are nevertheless reported to be due to de novo mutations.³

The cardinal disease manifestations in adults with MFS include alterations in the skeletal (long bones overgrowth, long slender digits, anterior chest deformity, scoliosis and flatfoot), ocular (eye lens dislocation, abnormal flat cornea and severe myopia) and cardiovascular (CV; aortic root, proximal ascending aorta and pulmonary artery aneurysms, mitral and aortic valve calcifications, dilated cardiomyopathy, arrhythmias and myxomatous thickening of the mitral valve with prolapse and regurgitation) systems.^{3–6} Although the clinical manifestations at skeletal and ocular levels in MFS patients are prominent, the most detrimental clinical phenotypes affect the CV system.⁴ In particular, thoracic aortic aneurysms (TAA) are observed in the vast majority of MFS patients and aneurysm dissection is the main cause of mortality in adult patients.⁷

To date the main therapy for TAA in MFS remains surgery, as an etiology-based pharmacological strategy is still lacking. Thus, the scientific community is directing its efforts in finding novel therapeutic approaches to limit aortic dilatation. Here, we describe the genetic background of MFS and outline the current and emerging strategies to provide a comprehensive overview of the plethora of opportunities that physicians and scientists hold to find the best path to counteract the development of TAA in MFS patients. Although several reviews have been previously published on this topic, we have chosen a unique approach by providing a broad overview of all the available weapons that have been gained from the most advanced discoveries in order to integrate the best and most precise therapy for each MFS patient.

MFS Genetic Background

In 1991 Dietz et al. identified a recurrent mutation in the *FBN1* gene as the genetic cause of MFS.⁸ Since that time, more than 3000 *FBN1* mutations have been described (http://www.umd.be/FBN1/).⁹ Interestingly, the majority of these mutations are carried by the components of single families.¹⁰ MFS patients carry *FBN1* mutations mainly in heterozygosis, although in very few probands homozygous or compound heterozygous mutations have been found.^{11–15}

FBN1 mutations basically affect the production and function of the encoded fibrillin-1, a glycoprotein of the extracellular matrix (ECM) that through polymerization participates in microfibril network formation.¹⁶ The loss of functional fibrillin-1 results in impairment of tissue elasticity and structural support due to microfibrillar architecture degeneration and ECM destruction. The molecular mechanisms underlying MFS have been extensively studied.¹⁷ In particular, transforming growth factor β (TGF- β) has emerged as the major culprit in the development of TAA and other clinical manifestations of MFS. This is likely due to the inability of mutated fibrillin-1 to sequester the inactive form of TGF- β resulting in its enhanced release and activation into the extracellular environment.^{18–23}

The relationship between *FBN1* mutations and MFS patient phenotypes has been thoroughly investigated, although patient stratification is difficult because of the low number of MFS patients and the high number of different *FBN1* mutations. Particularly, differences in phenotypic severity have been associated with different localization and type of *FBN1* mutations. For instance, a *mutational hot spot* in *FBN1* has been identified that leads to the most detrimental MFS phenotype.^{24, 25} Specifically, patients carrying *FBN1* mutations in exons 24–32 usually present a complete phenotype, earlier disease exacerbation, higher probability to develop ectopia lentis, scoliosis, aortic dilatation, mitral valve abnormalities and consequently demonstrating a poorer prognosis.^{24, 25} Moreover, it was observed that missense mutations are associated with ectopia lentis, while mutations determining truncated protein synthesis lead to more severe systemic phenotype.^{24, 26}

Interestingly, a classification based on the final effect that mutations have on fibrillin-1 has been devised subdividing mutations into haploinsufficient (HI) and dominant negative (DN). The HI mutations are usually due to insertions or deletions in FBN1 that can cause premature stop-codon formation with consequent prevention of protein translation or degradation.^{27, 28} Thus, patients carrying HI FBN1 mutations in heterozygosis only express the wild-type FBN1 allele and are theoretically characterized by a reduced amount of normal fibrillin-1 protein production, resulting in a weaker aortic wall more susceptible to high shear stress damage.²⁷ On the other hand, DN mutations (usually missense or exon skipping mutations) mostly determine the formation of a fibrillin-1 with abnormal functionality due to disturbed protein folding or defective activity. Patients carrying a heterozygous DN mutation should express a normal amount of fibrillin-1; however, it is likely that only half of the produced protein (that derived from the wild-type allele) is active. Theoretically, the DN condition should be characterized by a discrete phenotypic variability due to the differing type and location of the mutations that determine it.²⁹ Functionally, it has been postulated that the abnormal activity of DN mutated fibrillin-1 could negatively impact the subtle organization of fibrillar structure in the ECM, particularly its strength and its interaction with TGF-β.^{27, 28}

Interestingly, on the basis of this classification, Franken et al. recently observed that patients carrying HI mutations, when compared with patients carrying DN mutations, have a 2.5-fold increased risk for CV disease (CVD) death, a 2.4-fold increased risk for combined CVD mortality and dissection, and a 1.6-fold increased risk for any aortic complication.³⁰ The association of the MFS aortic phenotype with mutations resulting in truncated FBN1 has also been observed by other groups. In one cohort of 80 MFS patients, those carrying truncating mutations were reported to be more prone to develop aortic events, including both TAA and type A dissections, than patients carrying missense mutations (57.1% vs. 13.6%).²⁶

Some critical points about the HI-DN classification have recently been raised due to the overlap between phenotypes induced by different types of mutations.²⁸ Precisely, Dietz reported that DN mutations are frequently, but are not always associated with severe pediatric presentation and that HI mutations are associated with phenotypes ranging from mild presentations without cardiovascular involvement to the classic MFS presentation.³¹ To overcome these crucial points, it has been also postulated that the phenotypic variability among MFS patients carrying the same type of mutation could be due to alteration in the expression of the normal *FBN1* allele,³² a hypothesis that might also explain the strong intra-familial clinical variability recorded in MFS.

Furthermore, since DN mutations are more associated with the development of ectopia lentis, it should be more simple for clinicians to diagnose MFS in these patients early in life and, thus, begin prophylactic treatment for aortic disease determining a slower progression of aortic dilatation.²⁹

Based on these controversial and complex scenarios, we believe that, to date, a clear and complete genotype-phenotype correlation in MFS is still missing, and further studies will be needed to unravel this intricate question.¹⁰ However, we strongly feel that an effective *FBN1* mutation classification, together with a more precise genotype-phenotype correlation, would be useful to develop an appropriate instrument to predict disease progression, prognosis and response to drugs for each patient.

Current Therapeutic Strategies

Surgical Approaches

Since TAA is the MFS clinical feature most heavily impacting patient prognosis, many efforts have been focused on strategies that limit aortic enlargement and dissection occurrence. In the early 1970s, prior to the recent advances in diagnostic and prophylactic surgical approaches for TAA, MFS patients' lifespan was about 2/3 of that of healthy subjects. During the last four decades, however, life expectancy of these patients has dramatically increased to now near normal levels.^{3, 33, 34}

To avoid a detrimental dissection event, the 2010 ACC/AHA/AATS guidelines suggested that the TAA surgical correction for MFS patients is necessary when the ratio between the maximal cross sectional area of the ascending aorta or root (expressed in cm²) and patient's height (expressed in meters) exceeds the value of 10.³⁵ Afterwards, the 2014 ESC guidelines indicated that the elective surgical therapy should be recommended when: 1) the aortic diameter exceeds 45 or 50 mm (depending on the presence of family history of aortic dissection), 2) the aneurysm is rapidly dilating (at a rate higher than 3 mm/year), 3) in case of severe valve regurgitation or 4) before a planned pregnancy.³⁶

The surgical strategy basically consists of total aortic root replacement with a vascular graft including coronary reimplantation, that can be performed with a prosthetic aortic valve implant (TRR, *Bentall procedure*)³⁷ or a valve-sparing procedure (VSRR, *David procedure*, Fig 1).³⁸ Although the Bentall operation is considered the gold standard for TAA surgery, the David procedure has become increasingly popular whenever the patient presents with a morphologically and functionally normal aortic valve. The latter option is particularly advantageous as it does not require a prosthetic valve, thus avoiding life-long anticoagulant therapy, which is mandatory when a mechanical valve is utilized, or durability issues that are common when a bio-prosthesis is implanted in younger patients.^{39–41} Both these approaches are valuable options for treating TAA in MFS patients; however they are not always definitive. Indeed, after a TRR the re-intervention rate is ~0.3%/year and the thromboembolic event rate is ~0.7%/year. Conversely, the VSRR has shown increased need for re-intervention (~1.3%/year) but less thromboembolic events (~0.3%/year).³⁹ As for long-term patient outcome, Price et al. reported a 10-year survival rate of 90.5% after TRR and 96.3% following VSRR.⁴²

Interestingly, a more recent procedure based on the implantation of a personalized external aortic root support (PEARS) is emerging for the surgical management of TAA in patients at an early stage of aortic dilatation (Fig 1).^{43, 44} Briefly, a macroporous fabric sleeve, modeled on the patient's aorta, is created by 'computer aided design' and '3D printing' for implantation around aneurysmal aorta, with the aim to halt aortic root expansion, thus limiting the risk of acute dissection.^{44, 45} Interestingly, it has been observed that, over time, the macroporous mesh completely integrates with the aortic adventitia.⁴⁶ Despite only a hundred patients currently being followed after PEARS implantation, the functional positive effects of this innovative technique on longitudinal ascending aortic wall stress due to the axial downward reduction have already been reported, together with aortic valve competence restoration incidentally being obtained in some patients.^{47–50}

Life Style and Pharmacological Approaches

Once the diagnosis of MFS has been confirmed, precautions regarding behavioral and lifestyle measures should immediately be discussed with the patient and their family. Although there are no clear reported data regarding the dangers of physical activity (PA) in patients with TAA, it is generally suggested that MFS patients avoid weightlifting as well as intensive, contact and competitive sports, due to their potential risk in aorta rupture. However, regular low-intensity and low-impact PA is permitted in most people with MFS, after taking into consideration their personal PA limitations.⁵¹



Fig 1. Current therapeutic strategies for MFS-TAA. In the left panel are presented the more commonly prescribed pharmacological treatments to reduce heart rate and blood pressure that basically consist of ARBs and/or β-blockers therapy. In the right panel are illustrated the current overtures for the surgical repair of the thoracic aorta dilated tract: the TRR, VSRR or PEARS techniques. *ARBs: angiotensin II receptor blockers, AngII: angiotensin II, AT1R: angiotensin II receptor type 1, β-AR: β-adrenergic receptor, TRR: total root replacement, VSRR: valve-sparing root replacement, PEARS: personalized external aortic root support.*

In parallel the most frequent pharmacological approach reserved to MFS patients is aimed at decreasing heart rate and lowering blood pressure (BP) average and amplitude to reduce the hemodynamic stress on the proximal aorta.⁴⁰ Specifically, the drugs commonly prescribed are the β -adrenergic receptor antagonists (β Bs) that can be administered alone or in combination with angiotensin II (AngII) receptor type 1 (AT1R) blockers (ARBs, Fig 1).^{52,53} The β-blockers strategy was initiated in 1971, when Halpern et al. suggested that the control of BP could be fundamental to decrease haemodynamic stress on the proximal aorta in MFS patients.⁵⁴ Since that time several studies have been conducted, but the efficacy of BBs in these patients remains controversial.⁵⁵ Interestingly, a recent meta-analysis revealed that only one low quality, open-label, randomized clinical trial has been performed to assess the efficacy of βBs (e.g. propranolol) in 70 MFS patients. It reported a decrease in aortic diameter growth rate, but not mortality reduction.^{55,56} Additional small studies have reported that BBs can limit aortic root expansion.^{57–59} while others have shown no difference in aortic measurements in patients receiving the drug.⁶⁰ Dean et al. ascribed the heterogeneous efficacy of BB therapy in adult patients to the timing of therapy, with greater efficacy seen when treatment was started in younger patients with smaller aortas.⁶¹ Despite these variable results, BBs have become the most prescribed therapy for MFS patients.⁶² Atenolol is often utilized because of longer half-life, greater cardiac selectivity and fewer side effects.⁶³ Recently, the third-generation βB nebivolol has emerged as a possible valuable alternative in MFS treatment due to its effect on heart rate in association with anti-stiffness properties. In this regard, a clinical trial to test nebivolol efficacy in MFS patients has been designed⁶⁴ and is currently recruiting (NCT00683124; http://clinicaltrials.gov).

The recently unraveled role of AngII in MFS pathophysiology has identified ARBs as a potentially promising pharmacologic strategy. Indeed, the pivotal role of the AngII/AT1R axis in MFS aneurysm development was confirmed by the effectiveness of ARB therapy in reducing the rate of aortic root dilatation in MFS mice,^{20,65–67} as well as in adult patients co-treated with β Bs.^{52,68–71} Despite this finding, MARFANSARTAN, a recently published placebo-controlled randomized clinical trial, did not demonstrate the efficacy of ARBs in MFS patients.⁷² However, it is noteworthy that results from smaller studies evaluating ARB therapy in MFS children and young adults^{73–76} have shown impressive outcomes, both in severely affected children who did not previously respond to other conventional therapies and in children with milder MFS phenotypes. Overall, these patients showed a marked decrease in aortic root dilatation rate.^{73–75} In another cohort of 608 children and young adult MFS patients, Lacro et al. reported no significant difference between patients allocated to ARB or BB treatment groups over a 3-year follow-up, and that younger age was associated with a greater decrease in aortic root dilatation in both groups.⁷⁶

In 2015, two additional studies were published evaluating short-term vascular and haemodynamic effects (e.g. pulse way velocity, arterial stiffness, left ventricular function) in MFS patients treated with ARBs or β Bs alone. The results of both studies suggest that either of these classes of medication may be effective by improving vascular function via their distinct mechanisms.^{77,78} To further clarify the ability of ARBs to interfere with MFS pathology and their mechanism of action when administered alone, more controlled clinical studies are ongoing (The Oxford Marfan Trial [NCT01949233], NCT00723801; http://clinicaltrials.gov).

In case of intolerance to β Bs, angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEi) or calcium channel blockers (CCB) may also be utilized.⁷⁹ ACEi act by blocking the abnormal activation of the renin-angiotensin system, a known cause of aortic dilatation, while CCB prevent the influx of calcium from the extracellular space into cells and have a negative ionotropic action.^{62,80} The efficacy of CCB is currently under debate, both in humans and in MFS mice, in which it has been recently shown that the CV phenotype may worsen with CCB administration.^{55,62,80}

In summary, since published clinical studies have involved drugs that i) do not specifically target MFS-related mechanisms, and ii) are variably effective in these patients, it appears difficult to define which pharmacological therapy is most favorable for delaying TAA dilatation and dissection occurrence in MFS. Thus, to date the gold standard therapy for significant TAA in MFS remains surgery.

Novel Therapeutic Perspectives

The search for potential MFS targets for novel classes of molecules is ongoing, with the dual purpose of better understanding TAA pathological mechanism and being able to slow aortic disease progression. To pursue these aims, the combination of different tools such as MFS transgenic mice, pharmacogenetics and induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC) is the most complete approach to reach the personalized medicine goal (Fig 2).

Mouse Models

During the last two decades, several different transgenic mice models of MFS have been developed and are currently being used to investigate pathogenic mechanisms and validate novel treatment approaches. The most promising animal models developed to study *fibrillin 1* function are the hypomorphic model (mgR), the *Fbn1*-null (mgN), and the C1039G mouse model (Table 1).^{21,81,82} In particular, the Fbn1^{mgR} and the Fbn1^{mgN} mice show fibrillin1 under-expression, recapitulating the HI condition and MFS manifestations, while the Fbn1^{C1039G} mice harbour a FBN1 mutation similar to that more frequently carried by MFS patients and express a normal level of FBN1 recapitulating the DN condition (Fig 2). The most attractive novel approaches are reported in *Fbn1*^{mgR/mgR} mice and concern i) the management of TGF- β signalling for controlling its dimorphic effect on aortic aneurysm progression⁸³ and ii) the inhibition of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) obtained with doxycycline.⁸⁴ Briefly, Cook et al. reported that TGF-B neutralization could exacerbate TAA progression in MFS mice when the treatment was initiated in the perinatal period (before aneurysm formation), while it determined TAA mitigation when the treatment was administered in the postnatal life (after aneurysm formation).⁸³ In addition, Baxter and collaborators showed that doxycycline administration significantly prolonged MFS mice lifespan delaying aneurysm rupture, probably through the inhibition of the MMP-2 and MMP-9 production and the consequent decrease in aortic elastic fibre fragmentation.^{84,85} Interestingly, both these treatments were more effective in diminishing aortic aneurysm progression when combined with losartan administration.^{83,86} Another emerging approach for MFS aortic aneurysm treatment came from preclinical studies based on the use of statins in *Fbn1*^{C1039G} mice. Specifically, a positive role of pravastatin in attenuating aortic root dilatation and preserving elastin within the aortic wall was observed.87,88

Future studies are needed to evaluate whether the preclinical results obtained in MFS mouse models after TGF- β neutralization, doxycycline and pravastatin administration will be clinically applicable.

Pharmacogenetics

In the context of personalized medicine, the study of the genetic differences that may affect specific drug responses appears promising in understanding how to most effectively treat MFS patients. To this purpose the classification approach based on the final effect of the genetic mutation on the protein is a novel concept aimed to overcome the high number of different disease-causing mutations already described (Fig 2).

Franken et al. showed that ARB losartan was effective in reducing arterial BP, as well as in slowing aortic root dilatation in MFS patients carrying HI *FBN1* mutations, but not in those carrying the DN mutations.²⁷ In these patients the mean arterial BP did not correlate with aortic root dilatation rate, suggesting that the impact of losartan could not simply be ascribed to its BP lowering action.²⁷ It was also speculated that



Fig 2. Available tools to solve the puzzle of precise therapy for TAA in MFS. In the upper-left panel are represented the three more commonly used mouse models for preclinical studies: the *Fbn1*^{mgR/mgR} and the *Fbn1*

patients carrying an HI *FBN1* mutation have enhanced beneficial effects from ARB therapy in comparison to patients carrying DN mutations because of higher activation of AngII signalling. However, it is worth highlighting that patients in this study were adults that had not required aortic root surgery and did not stop previously prescribed medications before enrollment (β Bs use in 70–75% of the cohort).⁶⁹ Therefore, it is possible that the study population was enriched with milder cases (also evidenced by the low aortic dilation rate during the study) and that the β B therapy, administrated at different dosages, influenced the effect of losartan.²⁸ To confirm these results, it will be important to evaluate the impact of ARB therapy alone on a more heterogeneous population of MFS patients considering their underlying *FBN1* mutations. Although this study is a milestone in a pharmacogenetic perspective, further investigations are needed to confirm the validity of this classification, considering the discordant opinions reported in the literature about the phenotype heterogeneity of patients carrying DN or HI mutations and also among family members presenting the same mutation.^{27,28}

Patient-Specific Cell Models

A new tool in the field of personalized medicine concerns MFS patient-specific cell models, useful to advance mechanistic knowledge and assist in drug discovery. Among new patient-based cell platforms, those involving human embryonic stem cells (ESC) and iPSC appear particularly promising. The ESC have an unlimited capacity to proliferate and are able to differentiate in all the three embryonic germ layer derivatives. Notably, the iPSC hold the same proliferative and differentiating

Table 1 Common MFS mouse models.

MFS mouse model	Main cardiovascular phenotypic manifestation	References
Fbn 1 ^{mgR/+} Fbn 1 ^{mgR/mgR}	 Normal phenotype throughout life No phenotypic abnormalities at birth Medial calcification and aortic aneurysm formation Death for aortic aneurysm dissection during early adulthood 	81
Fbn1 ^{mgN/+} Fbn1 ^{mgN/mgN}	 Half amount of functional fibrillin 1 Normal phenotype throughout life Total lack of fibrillin 1 Neonatal death due to runture of aortic 	82
Fbn1 ^{C1039G/+}	aneurysm - Half amount of dysfunctional fibrillin 1 - Development of proximal aortic aneurysms and mitral valve thickening	21
Fbn1 ^{C1039G/C1039G}	 Normal lifespan Total amount of dysfunctional fibrillin 1 Death during perinatal period 	

capacities of ESC, without the ethical issues of embryo employment (Fig 2). 89

Since ESC and iPSC have the same genotype and phenotype of the donor, they offer a valid tool for disease modelling. This aspect is of paramount importance for translational purposes, since many drugs reported to be efficient in animal models have been found not to be effective in humans. This gap in translation highlights the necessity to move from studies grounded on animal models to patient-specific strategies. In this regard, patient-derived iPSC in particular open up new perspectives in patient-centered care, as they could be used to uncover key patho-mechanistic insights and in preclinical trials to assess for individual toxicity and drug responsiveness.⁹⁰ For all these features iPSC are now in the limelight.

Concerning the MFS pathological scenario, patient-derived iPSC recently showed similarities to patient-derived ESC, especially in terms of skeletogenic phenotype, thus they could be used indiscriminately in disease modelling.^{91,92} In particular, it was observed in both cell lines an enhanced activation of TGF- β signalling, a classical feature of MFS, causing a strong inhibition of osteogenesis and promotion of chondrogenic differentiation without TGF- β supplementation.⁹¹

However, in MFS the most detrimental alteration concerns the aortic wall, in which smooth muscle cells (SMC) were ascribed as the major cell type involved in the disease pathogenesis.¹⁷ In this regard, a study by Saito et al. reveals that the MFS iPSC-derived SMC (MFS iPSC-SMC) had characteristics similar to those of SMC isolated from MFS patients' aneurysmal aortic wall. Moreover, MFS iPSC-SMC showed augmented TGF- β signalling and expressed more mature contractile proteins and transcription regulator of smooth muscle genes in comparison to iPSC-SMC derived from healthy subjects.⁹³

More recently, Granata et al. developed a MFS vascular model starting from dermal fibroblasts of patients and generating MFS iPSC-SMC that were then differentiated into the three embryonic originspecific SMC lineages.⁹⁴ The lineage that best recapitulated the MFS aortic phenotype was derived from neural crest (NC-SMC), which showed hyperactivation of both the TGF- β canonical and non-canonical pathway in respect to healthy subject NC-SMC at early developmental stages.⁹⁴ Interestingly, three different drugs (i.e. losartan, doxycycline and anti-TGF-B treatment) were tested on this model and results indicated that losartan was the most effective drug in reducing ECM degradation in MFS NC-SMC. Losartan, however, only showed a partial rescue in impaired proliferation and had no effect on cell death.⁹⁴ In light of these results, it appears hopeful that iPSC will provide an optimal platform for the process of drug development and patient stratification (i.e. responder selection) for clinical trials or cohort studies in MFS (Fig 2).⁹

Conclusions

Several novel therapeutic strategies are under investigation aimed at ameliorating MFS patient outcomes and lifespan. Since a given molecule efficacy may not be equivalent for all MFS patients due to their intrinsic genomic differences, the goal of precise medicine is laborious to achieve. In this regard, we firmly believe that the choice of a pertinent modelling strategy is fundamental to discover the effective treatment for limiting TAA development and progression in MFS. To this end it is essential to consider together i) mouse models to study TAA pathological mechanism and to assess potential efficient drugs, ii) iPSC technology to test on patient-specific cells the *in vivo* identified compounds and to individualize the best responders and stratify patients for future clinical trial, and iii) pharmacogenetics to treat MFS patients with different medications based on their inherent characteristics. Only such an integrated approach involving all the presented tools will be the most likely solution for the composite puzzle of precise medicine for TAA in MFS.

Acknowledgements

We wish to thank Aoife Gowran, PhD for writing editing and critical comments. This work was supported by Ministero della Salute [RC 2016/17 to Centro Cardiologico Monzino IRCCS].

Statement of Conflict of Interest

There is no conflict of interest of any of the listed authors.

References

- 1. Groth KA, Hove H, Kyhl K, et al. Prevalence, incidence, and age at diagnosis in Marfan syndrome. Orphanet J Rare Dis 2015;10:153.
- Franken R, den Hartog AW, van de Riet L, et al. Clinical features differ substantially between Caucasian and Asian populations of Marfan syndrome. Circ J 2013;77: 2793-2798.
- 3. Judge DP, Dietz HC. Marfan's syndrome. Lancet 2005;366:1965-1976.
- Ramachandra CJ, Mehta A, Guo KW, Wong P, Tan JL, Shim W. Molecular pathogenesis of Marfan syndrome. Int J Cardiol 2015;187:585-591.
- Weyman AE, Scherrer-Crosbie M. Marfan syndrome and mitral valve prolapse. J Clin Invest 2004;114:1543-1546.
- Judge DP, Rouf R, Habashi J, Dietz HC. Mitral valve disease in Marfan syndrome and related disorders. J Cardiovasc Transl Res 2011;4:741-747.
- Tinkle BT, Saal HM. Health supervision for children with Marfan syndrome. Pediatrics 2013;132:e1059-e1072.
- Dietz HC, Cutting GR, Pyeritz RE, et al. Marfan syndrome caused by a recurrent de novo missense mutation in the fibrillin gene. Nature 1991;352:337-339.
- Collod-Beroud G, Le Bourdelles S, Ades L, et al. Update of the UMD-FBN1 mutation database and creation of an FBN1 polymorphism database. Hum Mutat 2003;22: 199-208.
- Loeys B. The search for genotype/phenotype correlation in Marfan syndrome: to be or not to be? Eur Heart J 2016;37:3291-3293.
- Arnaud P, Hanna N, Aubart M, et al. Homozygous and compound heterozygous mutations in the FBN1 gene: unexpected findings in molecular diagnosis of Marfan syndrome. J Med Genet 2017;54:100-103.
- de Vries BB, Pals G, Odink R, Hamel BC. Homozygosity for a FBN1 missense mutation: clinical and molecular evidence for recessive Marfan syndrome. Eur J Hum Genet 2007;15:930-935.
- Khan AO, Bolz HJ, Bergmann C. Results of fibrillin-1 gene analysis in children from inbred families with lens subluxation. J AAPOS 2014;18:134–139.
- Hilhorst-Hofstee Y, Rijlaarsdam ME, Scholte AJ, et al. The clinical spectrum of missense mutations of the first aspartic acid of cbEGF-like domains in fibrillin-1 including a recessive family. Hum Mutat 2010;31:E1915-E1927.
- Hogue J, Lee C, Jelin A, Strecker MN, Cox VA, Slavotinek AM. Homozygosity for a FBN1 missense mutation causes a severe Marfan syndrome phenotype. Clin Genet 2013;84:392-393.
- Jondeau G, Michel JB, Boileau C. The translational science of Marfan syndrome. Heart 2011;97:1206-1214.
- Perrucci GL, Rurali E, Gowran A, et al. Vascular smooth muscle cells in Marfan syndrome aneurysm: the broken bricks in the aortic wall. Cell Mol Life Sci 2016;74: 267-277.
- Matt P, Schoenhoff F, Habashi J, et al. Circulating transforming growth factor-beta in Marfan syndrome. Circulation 2009;120:526-532.
- Neptune ER, Frischmeyer PA, Arking DE, et al. Dysregulation of TGF-beta activation contributes to pathogenesis in Marfan syndrome. Nat Genet 2003;33:407-411.
- Habashi JP, Judge DP, Holm TM, et al. Losartan, an AT1 antagonist, prevents aortic aneurysm in a mouse model of Marfan syndrome. Science 2006;312:117-121.

- Judge DP, Biery NJ, Keene DR, et al. Evidence for a critical contribution of haploinsufficiency in the complex pathogenesis of Marfan syndrome. J Clin Invest 2004;114:172-181.
- Burks TN, Cohn RD. Role of TGF-beta signaling in inherited and acquired myopathies. Skelet Muscle 2011;1:19.
- Ng CM, Cheng A, Myers LA, et al. TGF-beta-dependent pathogenesis of mitral valve prolapse in a mouse model of Marfan syndrome. J Clin Invest 2004;114:1586-1592.
- 24. Faivre L, Collod-Beroud G, Loeys BL, et al. Effect of mutation type and location on clinical outcome in 1,013 probands with Marfan syndrome or related phenotypes and FBN1 mutations: an international study. Am J Hum Genet 2007;81:454-466.
- Booms P, Cisler J, Mathews KR, et al. Novel exon skipping mutation in the fibrillin-1 gene: two 'hot spots' for the neonatal Marfan syndrome. Clin Genet 1999:55:110-117.
- Becerra-Munoz VM, Gomez-Doblas JJ, Porras-Martin C, et al. The importance of genotype-phenotype correlation in the clinical management of Marfan syndrome. Orphanet I Rare Dis 2018:13:16.
- Franken R, den Hartog AW, Radonic T, et al. Beneficial outcome of Losartan therapy depends on type of FBN1 mutation in Marfan syndrome. Circ Cardiovasc Genet 2015;8:383-388.
- Dietz HC. Potential phenotype-genotype correlation in Marfan syndrome: when less is more? Circ Cardiovasc Genet 2015;8:256-260.
- Landis BJ, Veldtman GR, Ware SM. Genotype-phenotype correlations in Marfan syndrome. Heart 2017;103:1750-1752.
- 30. Franken R, Groenink M, de Waard V, et al. Genotype impacts survival in Marfan syndrome. Eur Heart J 2016;37:3285-3290.
- Hilhorst-Hofstee Y, Hamel BC, Verheij JB, et al. The clinical spectrum of complete FBN1 allele deletions. Eur J Hum Genet 2011;19:247-252.
- Hutchinson S, Furger A, Halliday D, et al. Allelic variation in normal human FBN1 expression in a family with Marfan syndrome: a potential modifier of phenotype? Hum Mol Genet 2003;12:2269-2276.
- Silverman DI, Burton KJ, Gray J, et al. Life expectancy in the Marfan syndrome. Am J Cardiol 1995;75:157-160.
- Pyeritz RE. Marfan syndrome: 30 years of research equals 30 years of additional life expectancy. Heart 2009;95:173-175.
- 35. Hiratzka LF, Bakris GL, Beckman JA, et al. 2010 ACCF/AHA/AATS/ACR/ASA/SCA/SCAI/ SIR/STS/SVM guidelines for the diagnosis and management of patients with Thoracic Aortic Disease: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines, American Association for Thoracic Surgery, American College of Radiology, American Stroke Association, Society of Cardiovascular Anesthesiologists, Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, Society of Interventional Radiology, Society of Thoracic Surgeons, and Society for Vascular Medicine. Circulation 2010;121:e266-e369.
- 36. Erbel R, Aboyans V, Boileau C, et al. 2014 ESC guidelines on the diagnosis and treatment of aortic diseases: document covering acute and chronic aortic diseases of the thoracic and abdominal aorta of the adult. The Task Force for the Diagnosis and Treatment of Aortic Diseases of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Eur Heart J 2014;35:2873-2926.
- Bentall H, De Bono A. A technique for complete replacement of the ascending aorta. Thorax 1968;23:338-339.
- David TE, Feindel CM. An aortic valve-sparing operation for patients with aortic incompetence and aneurysm of the ascending aorta. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1992;103:617-621.
- Benedetto U, Melina G, Takkenberg JJ, Roscitano A, Angeloni E, Sinatra R. Surgical management of aortic root disease in Marfan syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Heart 2011;97:955-958.
- Radke RM, Baumgartner H. Diagnosis and treatment of Marfan syndrome: an update. Heart 2014;100:1382-1391.
- 41. Nishimura A, Otto CM, Bonow RO, et al. 2017 AHA/ACC focused update of the 2014 AHA/ACC guideline for the management of patients with valvular heart disease: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines. Circulation 2017;135:e1159-e1195.
- Price J, Magruder JT, Young A, et al. Long-term outcomes of aortic root operations for Marfan syndrome: a comparison of Bentall versus aortic valve-sparing procedures. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2016;151:330-336.
- Treasure T, Takkenberg JJ, Pepper J. Surgical management of aortic root disease in Marfan syndrome and other congenital disorders associated with aortic root aneurysms. Heart 2014;100:1571-1576.
- 44. Pepper J, Petrou M, Rega F, Rosendahl U, Golesworthy T, Treasure T. Implantation of an individually computer-designed and manufactured external support for the Marfan aortic root. Multimed Man Cardiothorac Surg 2013;2013, mmt004.
- 45. Treasure T, Takkenberg JJ, Golesworthy T, et al. Personalised external aortic root support (PEARS) in Marfan syndrome: analysis of 1-9 year outcomes by intention-to-treat in a cohort of the first 30 consecutive patients to receive a novel tissue and valve-conserving procedure, compared with the published results of aortic root replacement. Heart 2014;100:969-975.
- Pepper J, Goddard M, Mohiaddin R, Treasure T. Histology of a Marfan aorta 4.5 years after personalized external aortic root support. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2015;48:502-505.
- Izgi C, Nyktari E, Alpendurada F, et al. Effect of personalized external aortic root support on aortic root motion and distension in Marfan syndrome patients. Int J Cardiol 2015;197:154-160.
- Singh SD, Xu XY, Pepper JR, Izgi C, Treasure T, Mohiaddin RH. Effects of aortic root motion on wall stress in the Marfan aorta before and after personalised aortic root support (PEARS) surgery. J Biomech 2016;49:2076-2084.
- 49. Treasure T, Pepper J. The potential of personalized external aortic root support (PEARS) to restore and maintain aortic valve competence. Ann Thorac Surg 2015;100:2415.

- Treasure T, Austin C, Pepper J. Plan, scan, model, print, manufacture, and implant personalized external aortic root support (PEARS). J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2017;154:78.
- Cheng A, Owens D. Marfan syndrome, inherited aortopathies and exercise: what is the right answer? Br J Sports Med 2016;50:100-104.
- Franken R, Mulder BJ. Aortic disease: Losartan versus atenolol in the Marfan aortahow to treat? Nat Rev Cardiol 2015;12:447-448.
- 53. Gao L, Chen L, Fan L, et al. The effect of losartan on progressive aortic dilatation in patients with Marfan's syndrome: a meta-analysis of prospective randomized clinical trials. Int J Cardiol 2016;217:190-194.
- Halpern BL, Char F, Murdoch JL, Horton WB, McKusick VA. A prospectus on the prevention of aortic rupture in the Marfan syndrome with data on survivorship without treatment. Johns Hopkins Med J 1971;129:123-129.
- 55. Koo HK, Lawrence KA, Musini VM. Beta-blockers for preventing aortic dissection in Marfan syndrome. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2017;11, CD011103.
- Shores J, Berger KR, Murphy EA, Pyeritz RE. Progression of aortic dilatation and the benefit of long-term beta-adrenergic blockade in Marfan's syndrome. N Engl J Med 1994;330:1335-1341.
- Salim MA, Alpert BS, Ward JC, Pyeritz RE. Effect of beta-adrenergic blockade on aortic root rate of dilation in the Marfan syndrome. Am J Cardiol 1994;74:629-633.
- Rossi-Foulkes R, Roman MJ, Rosen SE, et al. Phenotypic features and impact of beta blocker or calcium antagonist therapy on aortic lumen size in the Marfan syndrome. Am J Cardiol 1999;83:1364-1368.
- 59. Ladouceur M, Fermanian C, Lupoglazoff JM, et al. Effect of beta-blockade on ascending aortic dilatation in children with the Marfan syndrome. Am J Cardiol 2007;99:406-409.
- Selamet Tierney ES, Feingold B, Printz BF, et al. Beta-blocker therapy does not alter the rate of aortic root dilation in pediatric patients with Marfan syndrome. J Pediatr 2007;150:77-82.
- 61. Dean JC. Management of Marfan syndrome. Heart 2002;88:97-103.
- 62. Singh MN, Lacro RV. Recent clinical drug trials evidence in Marfan syndrome and clinical implications. Can J Cardiol 2016;32:66-77.
- 63. Keane MG, Pyeritz RE. Medical management of Marfan syndrome. Circulation 2008;117:2802-2813.
- 64. Gambarin FI, Favalli V, Serio A, et al. Rationale and design of a trial evaluating the effects of losartan vs. nebivolol vs. the association of both on the progression of aortic root dilation in Marfan syndrome with FBN1 gene mutations. J Cardiovasc Med (Hagerstown) 2009;10:354-362.
- Carta L, Smaldone S, Zilberberg L, et al. p38 MAPK is an early determinant of promiscuous Smad2/3 signaling in the aortas of fibrillin-1 (Fbn1)-null mice. J Biol Chem 2009;284:5630-5636.
- Lee JJ, Galatioto J, Rao S, Ramirez F, Costa KD. Losartan attenuates degradation of aorta and lung tissue micromechanics in a mouse model of severe Marfan syndrome. Ann Biomed Eng 2016;44:2994-3006.
- 67. Franken R, Hibender S, den Hartog AW, et al. No beneficial effect of general and specific anti-inflammatory therapies on aortic dilatation in Marfan mice. PLoS One 2014;9, e107221.
- Loeys BL. Angiotensin receptor blockers: a panacea for Marfan syndrome and related disorders? Drug Discov Today 2015;20:262-266.
- Groenink M, den Hartog AW, Franken R, et al. Losartan reduces aortic dilatation rate in adults with Marfan syndrome: a randomized controlled trial. Eur Heart J 2013;34: 3491-3500.
- Lee SJ, Oh J, Ko YG, Lee S, Chang BC, Lee Do Y, Et Al.. The beneficial effect of Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone system blockade in Marfan syndrome patients after aortic root replacement. Yonsei Med J 2016;57:81-87.
- Chiu HH, Wu MH, Wang JK, et al. Losartan added to beta-blockade therapy for aortic root dilation in Marfan syndrome: a randomized, open-label pilot study. Mayo Clin Proc 2013;88:271-276.
- Milleron O, Arnoult F, Ropers J, et al. Marfan Sartan: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Eur Heart J 2015;36:2160-2166.
- Brooke BS, Habashi JP, Judge DP, Patel N, Loeys B, Dietz 3rd HC. Angiotensin II blockade and aortic-root dilation in Marfan's syndrome. N Engl J Med 2008;358: 2787-2795.
- Mueller GC, Stierle L, Stark V, et al. Retrospective analysis of the effect of angiotensin II receptor blocker versus beta-blocker on aortic root growth in paediatric patients with Marfan syndrome. Heart 2014;100:214-218.
- Pees C, Laccone F, Hagl M, Debrauwer V, Moser E, Michel-Behnke I. Usefulness of losartan on the size of the ascending aorta in an unselected cohort of children, adolescents, and young adults with Marfan syndrome. Am J Cardiol 2013;112: 1477-1483.
- Lacro RV, Dietz HC, Sleeper LA, et al. Atenolol versus losartan in children and young adults with Marfan's syndrome. N Engl J Med 2014;371:2061-2071.
- Bhatt AB, Buck JS, Zuflacht JP, et al. Distinct effects of losartan and atenolol on vascular stiffness in Marfan syndrome. Vasc Med 2015;20:317-325.
- Sandor GG, Alghamdi MH, Raffin LA, et al. A randomized, double blind pilot study to assess the effects of losartan vs. atenolol on the biophysical properties of the aorta in patients with Marfan and Loeys-Dietz syndromes. Int J Cardiol 2015;179: 470-475.
- 79. Williams A, Davies S, Stuart AG, Wilson DG, Fraser AG. Medical treatment of Marfan syndrome: a time for change. Heart 2008;94:414-421.
- Doyle JJ, Doyle AJ, Wilson NK, et al. A deleterious gene-by-environment interaction imposed by calcium channel blockers in Marfan syndrome. Elife 2015;4, e08648.
- Pereira L, Lee SY, Gayraud B, et al. Pathogenetic sequence for aneurysm revealed in mice underexpressing fibrillin-1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1999;96:3819-3823.
- Carta L, Pereira L, Arteaga-Solis E, et al. Fibrillins 1 and 2 perform partially overlapping functions during aortic development. J Biol Chem 2006;281:8016-8023.

- **83.** Cook JR, Clayton NP, Carta L, et al. Dimorphic effects of transforming growth factorbeta signaling during aortic aneurysm progression in mice suggest a combinatorial therapy for Marfan syndrome. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2015;35:911-917.
- Xiong W, Knispel RA, Dietz HC, Ramirez F, Baxter BT. Doxycycline delays aneurysm rupture in a mouse model of Marfan syndrome. J Vasc Surg 2008;47:166-172.
 Longo GM, Xiong W, Greiner TC, Zhao Y, Fiotti N, Baxter BT. Matrix metalloproteinases
- Longo GM, Along W, Greiner TC, Zhao Y, Hott N, Baxter BT. Matrix metanoproteinases 2 and 9 work in concert to produce aortic aneurysms. J Clin Invest 2002;110:625-632.
- Yang HH, Kim JM, Chum E, van Breemen C, Chung AW. Effectiveness of combination of losartan potassium and doxycycline versus single-drug treatments in the secondary prevention of thoracic aortic aneurysm in Marfan syndrome. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2010;140:305-312.
- McLoughlin D, McGuinness J, Byrne J, et al. Pravastatin reduces Marfan aortic dilation. Circulation 2011;124:S168-S173.
- Castellano JM, Kovacic JC, Sanz J, Fuster V. Are we ignoring the dilated thoracic aorta? Ann N Y Acad Sci 2012;1254:164-174.

- Thomson JA, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Shapiro SS, et al. Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. Science 1998;282:1145-1147.
- Inoue H, Nagata N, Kurokawa H, Yamanaka S. iPS cells: a game changer for future medicine. EMBO J 2014;33:409-417.
- Quarto N, Leonard B, Li S, et al. Skeletogenic phenotype of human Marfan embryonic stem cells faithfully phenocopied by patient-specific induced-pluripotent stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2012;109:215-220.
- Byrne JA, Nguyen HN, Reijo Pera RA. Enhanced generation of induced pluripotent stem cells from a subpopulation of human fibroblasts. PLoS One 2009;4, e7118.
- Saito Y, Nakamura K, Sugiyama H, Yoshida M, Miyoshi T, Ito H. Modeling Marfan syndrome with induced pluripotent stem cell-derived vascular smooth muscle cells. ESC2015; 2015.
- 94. Granata A, Serrano F, Bernard WG, et al. An iPSC-derived vascular model of Marfan syndrome identifies key mediators of smooth muscle cell death. Nat Genet 2016;49:97-109.